
 
 

Agenda 
 

Eastern Area Committee Meeting 
 
Date: Thursday, 29 February 2024 
Time 7.00 pm, 
Venue: The Alexander Centre, 17 Preston Street, Faversham ME13 8NZ* 
 
Membership: 
 
Councillors Lloyd Bowen, Charles Gibson, Kieran Golding, Alastair Gould, Mike Henderson,  
Carole Jackson, Rich Lehmann, Claire Martin, Ben J Martin (Vice-Chair), Hannah Perkin  
(Chair), Julien Speed and Terry Thompson. 
 
Quorum = 3 

 
  Pages 

Information about this meeting 
Members of the press and public can listen to this meeting live. Details of how to 
join the meeting will be added to the website on 28 February 2024. 
 
Recording and Privacy Notice  
 
Swale Borough Council is committed to protecting the security of your personal 
information. As data controller we process data in accordance with the Data 
Protection Act 2018 and the UK General Data Protection Regulation. 
 
This meeting may be recorded. The recording will be retained in accordance 
with the Council’s data retention policy and may be published on the Council’s 
website. By entering the chamber and by speaking at a meeting, whether in 
person or online, you are consenting to being recorded and to the recording 
being published. 
 
When joining a meeting online, your username will be visible to others in 
attendance. In joining the meeting you are consenting to us processing your 
username. You may use a pseudonym as your username but the use of an 
inappropriate name may lead to removal from the meeting. 
 
If you have any questions about how we look after your personal information or 
your rights under the legislation, please email 
dataprotectionofficer@swale.gov.uk.  
 

 

1.   Emergency Evacuation Procedure 
 
Visitors and members of the public who are unfamiliar with the building 

and procedures are advised that:  

(a) There is no scheduled test of the fire alarm during this meeting. If 
the alarm does sound, please leave the building quickly without 
collecting any of your possessions, using the doors signed as fire 

 

Public Document Pack

mailto:dataprotectionofficer@swale.gov.uk


 

escapes. 

(b) Assemble outside where directed. Await instructions before re-
entering the building. 

(c) Anyone who requires assistance in evacuating the building, should 

make themselves known during this agenda item. 

 

 
2.   Apologies for Absence 

 

 

3.   Declarations of Interest 
 
Councillors should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or 

other material benefits for themselves, their families or friends.  

 

The Chair will ask Members if they have any disclosable pecuniary 

interests (DPIs) or disclosable non-pecuniary interests (DNPIs) to 

declare in respect of items on the agenda. Members with a DPI in an 

item must leave the room for that item and may not participate in the 

debate or vote.   

 

Aside from disclosable interests, where a fair-minded and informed 

observer would think there was a real possibility that a Member might be 

biased or predetermined on an item, the Member should declare this 

and leave the room while that item is considered.  

 

Members who are in any doubt about interests, bias or predetermination 

should contact the monitoring officer for advice prior to the meeting. 

 

 

4.   Minutes 
 
To approve the Minutes of the meeting held on 20 December 2023 
(Minute Nos. 531 – 542) as correct records.  
 

 

5.   Flooding in the Eastern Area 
 

5 - 8 

6.   Public Forum 
 

 

7.   Matters arising from previous meetings 
 

9 - 14 

8.   Swale Local Bus Focus Group 
 

15 - 24 

9.   Swale Traffic Forum 
 

25 - 26 

10.   Housing Support Fund 
 

27 - 36 

11.   Local issues to be raised 
 

 

12.   Matters referred to Service Committee Chairs for consideration 
 

 

 

Issued on Wednesday, 21 February 2024 

https://ws.swale.gov.uk/meetings/documents/g4075/Printed%20minutes%20Wednesday%2020-Dec-2023%2019.00%20Eastern%20Area%20Committee.pdf?T=1


 

 
 

The reports included in Part I of this agenda can be made available 
in alternative formats. For further information about this service, or to 
arrange for special facilities to be provided at the meeting, please 
contact DEMOCRATIC SERVICES on 01795 417330. To find out 
more about the work of the Cabinet, please visit www.swale.gov.uk 
 
 
 
Chief Executive, Swale Borough Council, 
Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT 



This page is intentionally left blank



Swale Eastern Area Committee Flooding Tracker 

The below tracker is an attempt to note and track all flooding occurring across our communities, the responsible parties and what action has 

been taken so that we are better able to resolve these issues, identify any patterns and push for wider changes that might benefit everyone 

affected by flooding. If you have an instance of flooding in the Eastern area or an update on one of the locations listed below please contact Cllr 

Charles Gibson who will update the tracker as regularly as possible ahead of Area Committee Meetings. 

Serial Location Notes Who is Responsible Last Action Taken Outcomes 

1 Abbey – 
Whitstable 
Road Rec 

Run off from the recreation Ground is a 
contributing factor. Recent works have 
improved the situation but it is not solved. 

Swale Borough 
Council 

Remedial Action 
taken last Autumn. 

 

2 Abbey – 
Whitstable 
Road Bus 
stops 

there are blocked drains that are completely 
impacted with earth. This contributes to the 
surface water flooding at the bottom of the 
road and also localised flooding near the 
bus stops. 

Kent County Council Were Scheduled to 
be cleared by KCC 
12/14 this did not 
occur 

 

3 Abbey – 
Church Road 

This is largely due to heavy leaf shedding 
blocking the drains along the pavement. 
Needs more regular clearance with road 
sweeper in the autumn and more regular 
attention to the clearance of the drains. 

Kent County Council Repeatedly 
reported in autumn 
23 

 

4 Abbey – 
Orchard Place 

Surface Water flooding linked to Serial 1. Swale Borough 
Council 

  

5 Abbey –
Conduit street 

Surface Water flooding repeatedly due to 
insufficient/blocked drains/gullies. 

Kent County Council Repeatedly 
reported. 

 

6 St Anns  – 
Tanners Street 

Towards South street, surface water 
flooding due to inadequate drainage. 

Kent County Council Repeatedly 
reported. Drainage 
enquiry 737456 

 

7 St 
Anns/Watling – 
Forbes Road 
under bridge 

floods badly in heavy rain in the dip under 
the bridge. There is clearly inadequate 
drainage in this area. 

Kent County Council Repeatedly 
reported 

 

8 St Anns – 
Curtis Way 
opposite 
Stonebridge 
Pond 

    

P
age 5

A
genda Item

 5



9 St Anns  – 
Oare 
Street/Western 
Link 

Insufficent drainage/camber Kent County Council   

10 Watling – Love 
Lane Cemetery 

opposite the entrance to the cemetery often 
floods in heavy rain and takes some time to 
drain in the following days pushing cars out 
onto the opposite side of the road. 

Kent County Council   

11 Watling – 
London Road 

opposite the Ashford Road junction outside 
the entrance to the small group of houses 
that are offset from the road floods regularly 
in even light rain. 

Kent County Council   

12 Watling – 
Ashford Road 

whole of the Ashford Road from the new 
roundabout on the pavement site only has 
one drain which is inadequate drainage for 
the area. 

Kent County Council   

13 Teynham and 
Lynstead – 
Frognal Lane 

The residents at No: 42 reported their toilet 
again unusable for two days due to a "back 
up". No: 36 reports the manhole in his back 
garden overflowing and a disgusting smell in 
his ground floor bathroom. No: 37 reports an 
overflowing manhole. Contractors have 
been out on numerous occasions but are 
unable to provide a permanent fix. No: 43 
reports sewage flowing into their rear 
garden from the manhole cover 
approximately every six months.The 
residents at No: 42 reported their toilet 
again unusable for two days due to a "back 
up". No: 36 reports the manhole in his back 
garden overflowing and a disgusting smell in 
his ground floor bathroom. No: 37 reports an 
overflowing manhole. Contractors have 
been out on numerous occasions but are 
unable to provide a permanent fix. No: 43 
reports sewage flowing into their rear 

Sewage Works   P
age 6



garden from the manhole cover 
approximately every six months. 
It is reported that raw sewage runs down 
Frognal Lane approx twice a year and 
thence down the drives of the residents' 
houses. In heavy rain, there is always a 
flood in the adjacent orchard. Residents 
report wastewater coming out of the verge. 
The sewage works would appear to already 
be full and running at full capacity. 
Contractors on site have advised there is no 
ability to upgrade it. Not only does the plant 
itself need upgrading, but the underground 
pipework also appears to be failing. Tankers 
are having to be brought in to remove 
excess sewerage every two weeks. 

14 Teynham and 
Lynstead - 
Hempstead 
Lane, Tonge 
End 

Every time it rains, the drains at the Tonge 
end of Hempstead Lane are unable to cope 
with the water run-off - and the roadway 
floods. This floodwater then has nowhere to 
go apart from down the driveway at The Old 
Mill, Church Road ME9 9AW. This in turn 
floods the entrance pathway to The Old Mill 
and waterlogs the embankment over the 
stream tunnel from Tonge Pond. 

Kent County Council Despite remedial 
works by KCC 
Highways, the 
drains continue to 
struggle - and the 
road is still flooded 
whenever it rains. 

 

15 Boughton and 
Courtenay – 
Staple street 
Crematorium 

Continued run off issues Kent County Council 
/ Crematorium 
operators 

  

16 Boughton and 
Courtenay - 
Fox Lane 
Selling station 

regularly flooded due to surface rain water 
and inadequate drainage. 

Kent County Council   

17 East Downs - 
Church Road 
ME13 0HL 

Water runs down kettle hill road and 
Stalisfield road and floods the corner. 
Doesn’t even have to be heavy rain. The 
drain is blocked solid with sludge from the 

Kent County Council   

P
age 7



banks etc. makes the corner quite 
treacherous especially at night 

 

P
age 8



 

Eastern Area Committee Meeting February 2024 – Matters arising 

 

No. Item Background Progress on actions 

1. Flooding in the 
Eastern Area 

It was agreed that the Area Committee 
Chair, on behalf of the Eastern Area 
Committee, would lobby the Parliamentary 
Members for Sittingbourne & Sheppey and 
Faversham & Mid Kent, on the impact 
national planning policy had on flooding 
issues. 
 
It was agreed that Cllr Charles Gibson, will 
be the Member lead on flooding matters in 
the Eastern area and liaise with the Member 
of Parliament, KCC, Southern Water (SW) 
and the Environment Agency. It was agreed 
that Area Committee Members, town and 
parish councillors and members of the 
public would feed their comments and 
specific issues to Cllr Gibson and he would 
collate all the information and prepare a 
document to bring to the February 2024 
Eastern Area Committee meeting so that 
further actions could be considered. 
 
Faversham Recreation Ground/Whitstable 
Road - KCC have carried out some 
additional works (installation of drain 
gulleys) in August 2023, they will be 
monitoring the effectiveness of the works 

This will be discussed under item 5. 
 

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 7



 

over the next few months. Swale Borough 
Council have installed some measures 
under the gates of Faversham Recreation 
Ground to try to reduce the amount of 
leaves and debris getting out onto 
Whitstable Road and blocking drainage 
gullies. In addition, SBC have starting to 
undertake their normal seasonal leaf 
clearance operations within the Recreation 
Ground. 
 

2. Memoria 
Crematorium, 
Faversham 

A member of the public said the Memoria 
Crematorium, Faversham, Staple Street, 
were using the pond for overflowing storm 
water. He believed this was a breach of 
planning conditions and asked what SBC 
were going to do about it. It was agreed that 
Planning officers would be consulted on this 
matter. 

Planning were consulted about the Memoria 
Crematorium and they advised that they were 
currently dealing with a submission of details for 
the surface water drainage under planning ref: 
23/505382/SUB and documents could be 
viewed online at 
https://pa.midkent.gov.uk/online-applications/. 
 

3. Active Travel update At previous meetings, the Active Travel 
Coordinator provided updates on the 
following: 
 

• Faversham East-West Cross Town Path 

• Faversham North-South Cross Town 
Path 

• Sustrans Faversham-Teynham Quietway 
Design Feasibility Study 

• Solar Cycle Way  

• KCWIP 
 

Faversham East-West Cross Town Path 

• Topographical surveys and safety audits 
have been completed allowing the drawing 
up of the final detailed plans for each of the 
14 interventions. 

• TROs should be published mid-March with 
the consultation closing at the end of April. 

 
Faversham North-South Cross Town Path 

• The Feasibility Study of the route has been 
completed. A strong evidence base has been 
compiled and constraints assessed. Initial 
interventions have been identified.  

P
age 10

https://pa.midkent.gov.uk/online-applications/


 

Sustrans Faversham-Teynham Quietway 
Design Feasibility Study 

• Following the completion of the feasibility 
study, we will be working with KCC and 
Sustrans on developing a funding bid to 
implement some of the recommendations.   

 
Solar Cycle Way  

• Discussion between Kent PRoW and the 
developer are ongoing. 

 
KCWIP 

• The public consultation has now closed, and 
responses are being assessed by KCC. 

 
Swale LCWIP 

• Cycle Routes that did not make it to the 
KCWIP Top 15 are covered in the Swale 
LCWIP 

o Faversham - Boughton under Blean – 
Canterbury 

o Faversham – Throwley – Ashford 
o Faversham – Seasalter – Whitstable 

 

4. Whiting Crescent, 
Faversham 

Cllr Carole Jackson spoke about the piece 
of land at the end of Whiting Crescent, 
Faversham and asked if a reconditioned 
slide or swing could be installed.  
 
It was suggested that the Community 
Committee maybe a more appropriate 
committee to pursue this request. It was 

This matter has been referred to the Chair of the 
Community Committee for consideration. 

P
age 11



 

agreed that on behalf of the Eastern Area 
Committee, the Policy & Engagement 
Officer will refer this matter to the Chair of 
the Committee Committee. 

5. Conservation Area 
Reviews 

The Conservation & Design Team report 
progress on Conservation Area Reviews to 
the Area Committees. 

The Conservation & Design Team updated as 
follows: 
 
Faversham - Preston Next Conservation Area 
The Conservation Area appraisal was presented 
to the Policy & Resources Committee on the 7th 
of February 2024, where in it was unanimously 
agreed to adopt the proposed document along 
with the proposed Boundary changes. Next step 
is to finalise the document with the proposed 
changes and send notifications to the properties 
within the conservation area and to London 
Gazette. It is envisaged that the final adopted 
document will be updated on the SBC website 
by Spring of 2024.  
  
Faversham- Town Conservation Area 
The document is being updated and is 
scheduled to be presented to March Policy & 
Resources Committee. It is envisaged that the 
final adopted document will be updated on the 
SBC website by Summer of 2024. 
 
Cellar Hill & Greenstreet Conservation Area 
On Historic England's advice, the proposed new 
conservation area along London Road 
which falls between Station Road and Lynsted 
Lane to the west of the existing conservation 

P
age 12



 

area, is being included in the current Cellar Hill 
& Greenstreet Conservation Area. The review 
work is underway and once completed will need 
to be reconsulted on, currently the public 
consultation is programmed for Mid-March to 
Mid-April 2024 with an aim to present to June 
2024 Policy & Resources Committee.  
 
 
 

6. Enhanced Bus 
Partnership – Swale 
Local Focus Group 

A Member requested a breakdown of how 
much of the funding allocated to KCC by the 
Government would be spent in the Eastern 
Area. 
 
A Member asked if there were any allocated 
funds for rural services which had been 
lost? 

Kent County Council responded to say that it 
was difficult to provide a breakdown of funding 
as the initiatives were predominantly high level 
and strategic (eg countywide interactive 
transport map, community transport grant, free 
travel weekends etc). 
 
The two applicable initiatives are service support 
and highway improvements. All network support 
funding has been utilised in saving 49 school 
services which would have otherwise been 
withdrawn. KCC have asked if any of these are 
in east Swale and will advise in due course.  

7. Light pollution Councillor Thompson asked what could be 
done if a resident installed bright white 
lighting in their home which was visible on 
the road and could be confusing to 
motorists. It was agreed to consult with KCC 
Highways to find out what could be done. 

KCC were consulted and the Highways Steward 
visited the resident who agreed to adjust the 
lantern. 

 

P
age 13



T
his page is intentionally left blank



The following issues were raised at the December 2023 round of Area 

Committee meetings to take to the first Enhanced Bus Partnership – Swale 

Local Focus Group meeting. 

Western Area Committee: 

• The majority of villages in the Western area had been severely impacted. 
Rodmersham, Milstead, and Bredgar had no bus services, Tunstall had a 
limited service to the Kent Science Park and Bapchild services had been 
reduced from five to one an hour (Stagecoach X3 service). Due to roadworks 
on the A2, they were often delayed and the last bus service was often 
cancelled; 

• services ended at 6 pm, there was no service in Bapchild on Sundays and a 
reduced service on Saturdays; 

• it was not a useful service as buses were operating during times that were of 
no use to people working, attending hospital appointments, or hoped to use 
train services. New services needed to be better timetabled; 

• the current option of using a drop-off service was not always suitable as it had 
to be booked in advance, bus pass holders had to pay and the varying routes 
could take a long time; 

• KCC had not taken advantage of Section 106 funding from the expansion of 
the Kent Science Park, Sittingbourne which could have been used to support 
rural communities; 

• developers would often put in pilot schemes such as Arriva Click, but they 
would not stop at villages such as Rodmersham, therefore it was destined to 
fail as it did not have enough passengers. It also killed the commercial bus 
service that ran to the Kent Science Park. 

• Newington had limited buses with poor timings which did not link up with train 
times. There was no service in the evening. 

• elderly people who liked to be independent were affected by the reduction in 
services. Not being able to leave the house could affect their mental health; 

• bus companies were credited with only 80 pence each time a bus pass was 
used which impacted commercial services; 

• people who regularly attended hospital appointments, or visited relatives or 
friends in hospital, had to use costly taxis as there was no bus service when 
they needed it; 

• pupils attending schools in Maidstone were affected when the Arriva service 
stopped. The alternative service, Stagecoach X3, did not always turn up, and 
not all parents were able to give lifts; 

• some people could not get home from the bus station; and 

• evening bus services were needed. 
 

Sheppey Area Committee: 

Members commented that public transport on the Isle of Sheppey was lacking and 
there was general support for the implementation of the Enhanced Bus Partnership 
Swale Local Focus Group. 
 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 8



Sittingbourne Area Committee: 

Due to lack of time, the Chair asked that people contact the rep outside of the 

meeting with any issues they would like raised. 

Eastern Area Committee: 

• Areas such as Lower Road and Ospringe Road, Faversham were effectively cut 
off as there were only two buses timetabled per day with the last but at 2 pm; 

• Boughton, Faversham was often bypassed by the buses which left school children 
unable to get to school; 

• if residents could not rely on bus services, they would stop using them; 

• a breakdown of how much of the funding allocated to KCC by the Government 
would be spent in the Eastern Area was requested; 

• due to the changes to family hubs in Kent, families had to travel further to get to 
them. If they used the bus service from Bysingwood, Faversham, there was only 
room for 2 pushchairs which was not enough; 

• a Member asked if there were any allocated funds for rural services which had 
been lost? and 

• there was no bus services from Oare, North Preston, Faversham Lakes, Lakeside 
Avenue into Faversham. 

 

Response to above from Swale Local Bus Forum held on 06 February 2024: 

 

Western Area Cttee 

 

• Cllr Mike Baldock suggested to assist with offering a service to link village to 
village, providing a hopper service to link villages with town. 

• Cllr Mike Mike Baldock suggested if daily services not viable to rural villages, 
offer a twice weekly service. 

• Dan Bruce (KCC) advised Stagecoach working on X3 route issue. 

• Dan Bruce (KCC) - Aware of the Kent Science Park S106 issue and reviewing. 
 

Sheppey Area Committee 

 

Following this meeting Cllr Dolley Wooster has greater understanding of BSIP, 

Enhanced Partnership Board and Local Bus Forum to update Sheppey Area Cttee. 

 

Sittingbourne Area Committee 

 

Member rep had sent apologies, but bus companies were aware of the points raised 

as they had attended the committee previously. 

 

Eastern Area Committee 

 

• Matthew Arnold (Stagecoach) - Issues with Boughton due to highway 
improvement works and access to village. 

• Matthew Arnold (Stagecoach) - Bus design impacts on allocated pushchair space 

Page 16



• Cllr Mike Baldock suggested if daily services not viable to rural villages offer a 
twice weekly service.  

• Dan Bruce (KCC) Funding allocation not specific to the area but benefit from 
county wide initiatives like the travel saver pass and free weekend last summer. 

 

Representatives from bus companies offered to attend future meetings of Area 

Committees if required. 

 

 

 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Eastern Area Committee 

Meeting Date 29 February 2024 

Report Title Swale Traffic Forum 

EMT Lead Emma Wiggins, Director of Regeneration and Neighbourhoods 

Head of Service Martyn Cassell, Head of Environment and Leisure  

Report Author Adrian Oliver, Active Travel Co-ordinator 

Recommendations 1. Note the content of the report. 

2. Nominate a representative from the Eastern Area Committee 
to sit on the Swale Traffic Forum. 

3. Feedback any traffic issues that can be raised at the first 
Swale Traffic Forum end February/beginning March 2024. 

 

1 Background 
 

1.1 The Policy & Resources Committee has approved the pursuit of establishing a multi-agency group – 
Swale Traffic Forum – to monitor the wider road network to ensure that the current programme of 
works and any future planned works, delivers the mitigations to allow for the regeneration of the 
shared space rural lanes and recommend interventions where and when appropriate.  

1.2 The Swale Traffic Forum (STF) is to assist Kent Highways and National Highways with traffic 
management plans by providing local knowledge, during significant works such as those at Junction 
5 of the M2/A249, Key Street and Grovehurst roundabouts, to endeavour to maintain the flow of 
traffic along key corridors without impacting residential streets or the rural road network. 

1.3 The STF will assist with communications to help drivers avoid and reduce congestion. 

1.4 The STF aims to bring together Swale Members & Officers and representatives of industry, 
education, Kent Highways and National Highways: 

• The Chair of the Swale Joint Transport Board 

• The Vice-Chair of the Swale Joint Transport Board 

• One representative from each of the four Area Committees 

• At least one representative from Kent Highways 

• At least one representative from National Highways 

• At least one representative from industry 

• At least one representative from Swale Schools 

• Appropriate Swale Borough Council officers 

1.5 The Chair and or Vice-Chair of the Swale Joint Transport Board are responsible for reporting on the 
activities of the STF to the Joint Transport Board. 

1.6 Kent Highways and National Highways representatives to investigate recommendations from the 
STF and report back.  

1.7 The work and effectiveness of the STF will be reviewed annually to aid members decisions on the 
relevance and continuation of the meetings. 

1.8 The STF will meet every other month – six times a year. The members can decide to meet more or 
less regularly if the volume of key corridor works necessitates.  

1.9 Meetings will be held during the working day on Teams and organised by Swale Borough Council. 

 

 

 

Page 25

Agenda Item 9



 

2 Proposal 

2.1       Note the content of the report. 

2.2       Nominate a representation from the Eastern Area Committee to sit on the Swale Traffic Forum 

2.3       Feedback any traffic issues that can be raised at the first Swale Traffic Forum end     

            February/beginning March 2024 

Page 26



Household Support Fund (HSF)  

Area Committees update for Swale. 

Household Support Fund has provided vital Government funding to deliver critical services to 
the residents of Swale who are impacted by the current Cost of Living Crisis and energy 
prices. Over the four rounds (Oct 2021 – Jan 2024), we have developed support packages 
by working with local voluntary and community sector organisations (VCS) and have 
delivered support to the most vulnerable through a network of frontline delivery.  
 

Funding Allocations 

Household Support Fund is a Department for Work & Pensions (DWP) provision which is 

funded to Kent County Council and then we receive local allocations dependant on a variety 

of measures including poverty levels.  

• Round 1 (6th October 2021-31st March 2022) – £244,416.22  

• Round 2 (1st April 2022-30th September 2022) – £558,940.00 (In-house voucher 

scheme delivered & pensioner payments) 

• Round 3 (1st October 2022-31st March 2023) – £279,923.87  

• Round 4 (1st April 2023-31st March 2024) – £505,445.00  

Current funding position 

The current round of funding will end on 31st March 2024, and we have not received any 

updates from Government or Kent County Council that there will be a further round of 

funding, this will have significant impact on Swale residents, Swale Borough Council and 

Swales VCS.  

Delivery model 

In rounds 1 & 2 (Oct 2021-Sep22) we developed a service offer that consisted of a 

combination of funding VCS partners and delivery of a voucher scheme by officers in-house. 

This formed the basis of the service offer that we have been delivering ever since by using 

the evidence from the first rounds to show resident need and how we could respond with the 

staff resources and funds available to us.  

As the scheme developed, we stopped delivering in-house and moved to funding all services 

through Swale’s VCS to bolster existing service provision and creating a new voucher 

scheme working in collaboration with Children & Families.  

The VCS organisations delivering the scheme were able to increase their volumes of 

support and develop their existing service offers to respond to the immediate crisis. New and 

innovative support offers were developed through working with the VCS, of which as a Local 

Authority we were unable to deliver due to a lack of resources and delivery mechanisms.  

The current delivery model consists of the following service offers being delivered Swales 

VCS:  

Organisation Service offer  

Age UK (Faversham & Sittingbourne) Hot meals & food shopping 

Age UK (Sheppey)  Hot meals & food shopping 

Children & Families  Emergency food parcels 

Children & Families £100 Mastercard (Billed fuel support) 

Citizens Advice Swale Fuel advice (and other advice services) 

Page 27

Agenda Item 10



Diversity House Emergency food parcels (Multicultural)  

Fuel & Water Advice Service (Children & 
Families) 

Fuel and energy advice (inc. fuel vouchers) 

Swale Foodbank Emergency food parcels 

Swale Foodbank White goods 

West Faversham Community Association Hot meals (children)  

 

Partnerships 

The Fuel and Water Advisor service was created in 2019 through SBC Special Projects 

Fund after we declared a Climate and Ecological Emergency. The development of this 

contract included providing support to residents to tackle fuel and water poverty in the 

borough.  

Children & Families delivered this successful project over a period of 3 years, and we were 

able to fund the extension of this much needed service through HSF until the end of March 

2024. The District Councils Network are promoting this as a stand out service model and we 

are proud of the work this project has done to support many residents to improve the energy 

efficiency of their homes and access to emergency fuel support and advice. Due to the 

proven track record of this project and the continued need for a service of this kind, Children 

& Families have been successful in gaining a further year’s funding through local energy 

provider schemes.  

In addition, development of HSF in conjunction with the local VCS has allowed us to 

strengthen the relationship we have as an authority with the VCS and wider statutory 

partners. There is a collaborative voice through the Cost of Living Partnership Group and 

working closely with frontline partners helps us to get a true picture of the issues and 

experiences our residents are facing at this time as well as engaging local MPs within the 

group.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 28



Data 

The following data has been collected over the lifespan of HSF and shows the numbers of 

households that the scheme has assisted.  

Although the service delivery differs the data collection has remained the same for reporting. 

The number of households differs from the volume of support provided as we have provided 

multiple support to the same household in some instances.  

 

The fund has provided 2,710 £100 digital Mastercard’s to households to enable them to 

decrease their fuel bills or support their families with fuel or food supplies.  

The fund has provided 11,614 emergency food parcels to households who would have 

otherwise gone without essential food supplies.  

Through the Fuel & Water Advisor service 4444 households have been provided with 

essentials to reduce fuel consumption such as, as water hippos, radiator reflector panels, 

draft excluders, and hygrometers to help reduce damp. As well as advice on energy/water 

bills and fuel vouchers for those on pre-paid meters.  

Round 1

Time Period 

6 months

Food Support 
(Vouchers, Food 

Parcels, Food 

Shopping, Hot 

Meals)

Energy and 

Water (fuel 

vouchers, 

essentials linked to 

energy/water ie. 

warm packs, hygro 

meters)

Wider 

Essentials 
(white goods) 

Advice 

Services 

Housing 

Costs 
(rent 

arrears)

Total 

Volume 

Total 

Households

06/10/21-31/03/22 443 155 258 0 0 856 683

Round 2

6 months

Food Support 
(Vouchers, Food 

Parcels, Food 

Shopping, Hot 

Meals)

Energy and 

Water (fuel 

vouchers, 

essentials linked to 

energy/water ie. 

warm packs, hygro 

meters)

Wider 

Essentials 
(white goods) 

Advice 

Services 

Housing 

Costs 
(rent 

arrears)

Total 

Volume 

Total 

Households

01/04/22-30/09/22 1753 3982 0 0 0 5735 1773

Round 3

6 months

Food Support 
(Vouchers, Food 

Parcels, Food 

Shopping, Hot 

Meals)

Energy and 

Water (fuel 

vouchers, 

essentials linked to 

energy/water ie. 

warm packs, hygro 

meters)

Wider 

Essentials 
(white goods) 

Advice 

Services 

Housing 

Costs 
(rent 

arrears)

Total 

Volume 

Total 

Households

01/10/22-30/03/23 6380 2313 33 0 4 8730 5861

Round 4

1 year

Apr23-Mar24

Food Support 
(Vouchers, Food 

Parcels, Food 

Shopping, Hot 

Meals)

Energy and 

Water (fuel 

vouchers, 

essentials linked to 

energy/water ie. 

warm packs, hygro 

meters)

Wider 

Essentials 
(white goods) 

Advice 

Services 

Housing 

Costs 
(rent 

arrears)

Total 

Volume 

Total 

Households

01/04/23-31/12/23 15,055 1149 76 338 3 16,621 15,960

Overall Total 23,631 7599 367 338 7 31,942 24,277

Page 29



In exceptional circumstances the fund has contributed to rent arrears for families who are not 

entitled to any other form of additional funding support, and they have shown that they are 

valid cases to receive the support to avoid homelessness or transition from temporary 

accommodation.  

Voluntary and Community Sector impact 

Through the development of HSF, we have been able to improve and build on the 

relationship that we have with Swales VCS. Covid significantly impacted the sector as they 

saw increasing numbers of residents turning to them for support because of the pandemic. 

In addition, the impact of the fuel crisis as well as the Cost-of-Living crisis have all played a 

part in putting incredible strain on their services.  

We acknowledge that residents trust the VCS in Swale and are turning to them more and 

more and so collectively we agreed to design a scheme that would benefit residents first and 

foremost but also allow the VCS to tackle some of the issues they are facing and reduce 

pressure to our own frontline services. Without HSF these organisations will without doubt 

no longer be able to deliver the level of service offer they have been, and many residents will 

start to feel the effects of a reduced service.  

We have spoken to the core delivery partners from Swales VCS and captured their 

comments and feedback regarding HSF funding ceasing post March 2024 – see attached 

Appendix I.  

Implications of the fund ending post March 2024 

For Swale residents 

• Reduction in availability of emergency support ie. food parcels, fuel vouchers 

• Increased wait times to access services 

• Increase in mental health issues due to worry of not being able to access support 

• Some services that are currently funded by HSF will become chargeable to residents 

who are unable to afford the costs ie. Age UK hot meals  

For Swale Borough Council 

• Increase of Safeguarding cases  

• Increase in contacts to Housing and Homelessness services  

• Increase in non payment of Council Tax  

• Increase on pressure on SBC to find alternative support options 

For the Voluntary & Community Sector in Swale 

• Possible centre closures due to lack of funding 

• Organisations unable to meet the demand and therefore having to turn people away 

or redirect them back to SBC 

• Organisations needing to charge for services that are currently available through 

HSF  

• Increased stress and pressures to small organisations without the capability to cope 

 

 

Page 30



Appendix I 

Household Support Fund (HSF) 

Voluntary and Community Sector Statements to support Household Support Fund Review 

Paper January 2024.  

 

Children & Families – Ian Townsend-Blazier  

Emergency food parcels and £100 digital Mastercard’s 

The HSF has enabled us to support thousands of the most vulnerable members of our 

community across Swale. Through this work we are able to support those on prepayment 

meters, billed support and food support. As a local charity the funding has helped support 

the sustainability of these much needed services. If children/families are unable to meet their 

basic needs (food, clothes, shelter, warmth) they are unable thrive, concentrate, learn, etc. 

which impacts their life chances and creates costly interventions later on in life. We are 

currently in a period where the energy cap has re-risen, food costs and fuel costs are still 

high and are unlikely to see any deflation.  

The services we provide are not just about sort fixes, but long term sustainable changes. 

The support team that provides our emergency support are now regulated by Ofgem who 

undertake 3rd party Quality assurance reviews. Below is a quote provided by one resident to 

Explain on the 22nd Dec 2023 regarding the difference HSF makes to peoples lives from the 

support we provide. 

“I'm not disappointed in anything. I've not got one bad thing to say, she saved my life. She's 

done things I never thought was possible. I've gone through so much, I nearly took my own 

life. She's just listened to me, she has done so many other little things and helped me out 

with my housing, bills and my health, I've lost my wife. She made me realise that I've got 

something worth living for. Rebecca has been for me ten all the way. I didn't expect half the 

help I got from Rebecca. It was very good for me, I have been in a dark place and she pulled 

me out financially and mentally and helped me get on track. It's been a huge help, she 

dropped my bills down and support me with emergency credit when in need so I could heat 

my home and eat. The people who helped me got it down to a 000 kind of thing, especially 

around Christmas it's been useful. They were awesome, Rebecca, she something else. She 

is phenomenal, she saved my life. She has this calmness about her, it’s not something you 

can learn. She's got it like she's every man's wife. People should know what good people 

have. It's only good things can come out of it.” 

 

Citizens Advice Swale – Fiona Spall and Jude Lee 

Fuel (and other) advice services  

The HSF fund has been instrumental in helping CAS to support residents through the COL 

crisis. The fund has contributed significantly to salary costs and enabled us to meet 

increasing demand. The wrap around service offered by CAS means that residents are 

provided with more than just a fuel or food voucher. We provide a holistic service, which 

includes comprehensive energy advice, income maximisation, benefit checks and support 

with debt and finances. In the calendar year we made an income gain of  £167,804.12 

through HSF alone in addition to helping clients repay over £37,000 in financial liabilities. In 

Page 31



the last three months alone we've supported 122 clients through funding from HSF. The 

majority of these clients presented with multiple complex issues requiring ongoing casework 

or specialist referrals 

 

The impact on residents should funding be pulled would be extremely detrimental to the 

community and leave a gap in support where demand is growing. Energy prices rose again 

in January and many of clients are struggling to heat or eat due to the cost of living. The 

HSF project allows us to make contact with households that are hardest hit and to increasing 

their income, and helping them to better manage their finances, this in turn relieves the 

pressures on statutory services and improves mental health and wellbeing 

This recent client story demonstrates the difference we can make through HSF: 

Our client contacted us following his move to a very rural and isolated location.  He has 
carpet and curtains in just one room and the Community Support worker has been helping 
him. Our client described his day to day life as full of pain and despair, he is very lonely and 
isolated. 

He was provided with food from the foodbank but this is mostly canned and he can’t use a 
can opener due to dexterity problems with his hands so it’s still sitting in his cupboards. He 
doesn’t have the basic utensils required for serving food. 

Our client has no family support and multiple health conditions which makes it very difficult 
for him to get out and about. He’s unable to read or write and has no digital awareness, 
having just a basic phone for making calls. On top of this he has a basic income from 
Universal Credit and can’t afford bus fares to get into town. 

He suffers from depression and has recently had some suicidal thoughts due to his living 
conditions and ability to see a way forward.  He’s been turned down three times for Personal 
Independence Payments, but we’re now helping him with an appeal. 

After several phone calls we’ve been able to make progress in trying to secure a better 
quality of life for him through the HSF scheme 

So far we’ve managed to secure a £50 cash donation to buy the small items he needs for his 
kitchen and submitted an application for fuel support  

Vincent De Paul charity is going to carry out a home visit to see if they can help with white 
goods, curtains, floor coverings etc. 

A referral has been made to the Community Practitioner who’ll carry out a home visit to see 
what help and assistance he needs to manage his day to day affairs 

Age UK is going to contact him about their Community Shopping service (a shop to the value 
of £45 for him at no cost to him and deliver the food).  

A referral was also made to Age UK for its Befriending service. 

Our client was also under the impression that he had to wait another two years before he 
could retire, but our adviser was able to reassure him that his retirement date was in 
2024.  At this point his financial situation will improve as he’ll be able to access other 
benefits to assist him. 

Page 32



During the follow-up phone call when all of the above was explained to the client, he was 
more positive and said he wasn’t feeling as hopeless as he had been since his move. 
Speaking to him on the phone there was a definite lift in his demeanour; he appeared much 
more relaxed. 

 

Swale Food Bank (Trussell Trust) – Esther Hurwood 

Emergency food support & white goods 

Due to Universal Credit payments being too low to afford the essentials, including food, 

combined with the Cost of Living Crisis, we are currently needing to support many more 

clients than we ever have before. We are spending around £1000 per week to ensure 

enough food & supplies goes to those most in need. The Housing Support Foundation has 

enabled us to support these families and individuals which have been sadly let down by 

statutory services and a welfare system that is not fit for purpose. Removing this support 

from ourselves and many of our professional partners at a time when the whole nation is in 

crisis financially is a blow to the many we are trying to support.  

One family we have supported over the last year is a single mum of 4 children. As the Cost 

of Living crisis hit, her landlord had no choice but to increase her rent by £300. Housing 

Benefit agreed to cover this for her, but then Universal Credit decreased her payments by 

£300, meaning she is now minus £300 per month. This incredible woman is attending 

college to learn new skills in the hope that she will be able to work a full-time job in the future 

and come off of benefits completely. If, in addition, we now have to remove food support 

from this family as a result of losing the HSF, we don't know how she will cope. It is almost 

certain that she would need to leave her college course to try and get lower paid work, in 

order that her family can continue to eat.  

Having helped 6436 people with emergency food last year, and with a predicted 49% 

increase in households requiring our support this year, we ask that the Housing Support 

Fund is not discontinued at the end of this financial year. Far too many households require 

this support in order to provide food for their children for it to be withdrawn. 

 

Age UK (Sheppey) – Louise Johnson 

Hot meals and food shopping  

We are a charitable organisation that relies on funding, grants, fundraising or charging for 

our services to be able to be sustainable. Due to the cost-of-living crisis many in our 

community have been struggling to pay for extra services so have been socialising less or 

not eating properly. We have been able to offer free two course meal delivery or food 

packages to those most in need due to the funding from SBC. Without this funding we would 

not be offering this service so those that are really struggling and vulnerable would find 

themselves in an even more vulnerable situation. If funding was to stop unfortunately, we 

would be able to continue the service without charging for it. 

Over the months we have had people writing into us to tell us how the service has helped 

them. Here are some quotes. 

 

Page 33



“Just a short letter to let you know how much my weekly food parcels have helped out and 

how grateful I am to have received them. I can’t tell you how much it means to get that extra 

help” 

“I just wanted to say a huge Thank you for our food parcel over the past few weeks. It is so 

sad really that at 70 years of age I’ve had to turn to a charity to help feed my husband and I 

but without the help of Age UK I really don’t thing we would have managed. The quality and 

variety of foods we have had through Age UK have been impressive. It has given me the 

opportunity to prepare and cook some of the nicest, tastiest meals we’ve had for some time. 

I have always loved cooking and I have to say I have been able to immerse myself in making 

so many delicious meals from roast dinners, to soups, pastas, jacket potatoes, quiches, pies, 

puddings and snacks that have not onl filled our bellies but also helped my mental wellbeing 

as I suffer from anxiety and depression, often not being able to step outside the door. Not 

having the worry of how I was going to feed us as we are really struggling financially to cover 

our basic needs at present, whilst being busy cooking had made such a difference to me 

emotionally too so I cannot thank Age UK enough” 

“Having my food parcel every week for 4 weeks has helped me so much, just having food 

that helps with everyday meals makes all the difference. I have been struggling with food 

shopping and paying bills, sometimes leaving shopping overpaying my bills so thank you so 

much” 

“I have been very fortunate to have received 4 wonderful food parcels via Age UK, which I 

understand was due to funding from the council. These have been a lifeline for me, as it 

enabled me with the money saved to pay off a couple of outstanding bills, which I am so 

grateful for, plus the parcels enabled me to have a little extra money to be able to buy my 

grandchildren a small token gift to Christmas. I hope that the council will fund these parcels 

again so as to help more people. I will be forever grateful” 

 

West Faversham Community Association – Louise Asekokhai 

Hot meals – young people  

I just wanted to put forward a few words from West Faversham regarding the difference the 

HSF grant makes to our service users. 

We provide hot, free meals for young people. The grant allows us to cook a variety of tasty 

meals for the young people that use our clubs, we often get the children arriving early asking 

what's for dinner, which means that the meal we are providing is likely to be the only proper 

hot meal they are being offered. Some of the young people have started to bring their 

siblings along for food, and often visit the community fridge to take other food home for the 

rest of the family. 

I believe from the feedback we receive that we are ensuring many forgotten about young 

people, some which do not attend fulltime school are getting a decent meal a few times a 

week which they would not have from anywhere else. Without the grant money we are going 

to struggle to provide the quality, variety and quantity we offer, and young people will miss 

out on being fed properly.  

Young people need good quality, healthy food to grow and develop, and if they are left 

hungry they are more likely to shoplift food and start on the wrong path. 

Page 34



It may not seem a lot to many people, but we know that many of the young people we see 

on a regular basis rely on the meals we offer. 

 

 

 

 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Flooding in the Eastern Area
	7 Matters arising from previous meetings
	8 Swale Local Bus Focus Group
	Bus forum CPT - Driving Britain Forward

	9 Swale Traffic Forum
	10 Housing Support Fund
	Appendix I - HSF


